
Summary 

County Zala is situated in the South-western 
corner of the country. Its natural regions are 
Keszthely-mountain and Zala-hills. The area 
of the county considerably changed several 
times during the history (its largest size was 
6000 km2, today it amounts to 3800 km2). The 
country is very rich in waterways (Mura, Zala, 
Kerka, Válicka, Principális-csatorna, Cserta), 
besides its settlement network is among the 
most dense ones in the country (257 settlements 
presently). Its road network is known from the 
Román ages on, the remains from the ever 
earlier ages are being excavated nowadays, 
The Northern-southern so-called Amber Road 
led thorough Zalalövő, its bridge has stood on 
the same spot for almost 2000 years. Close to 
Fenékpuszta, there was a ferry crossing. 
Important Western-Eastern roads alsó led 
across the county. 

Undoubtedly, there were bridges on river 
Zala already in the 13"1 century, this very fact 
can be proved by several settlement names 
(Kehida, Barlabáshida etc) and by the documents 
about bridge tolls: Zalakaros, Zalacséb. The 
rather dense road network in the Middle Ages 
is known based on ferry crossings, road and 
bridge tolls. 

For the protection of bridges and ferries, 
many plain castles and fortresses were built 
where, of course, bridges were alsó found. 
Their locations are known from military 
engineering surveys of 16th century and 
archaeological excavations. During the Turkish 
occupation, mainly after the seize of the castle 
Kanizsa the importance of the crossing points 
in Zala-valley and the fortresses built for their 
protection increased after having driven out 
the Turks from the country, the road network 
changed, the first military survey (1784) and 

the detailed road map of the first county 
engineer (1792) included and expanded road 
network and many bridges. In 1784, there 
were 572 bridges in the country. A detailed 
road survey is known from 1832. It shows that 
alsó a high number of arched bridges were 
built from the laté 18"1 century. The most 
significant among them is the five-span Zala-
bridge at Zalalövő (each span amounts to 6 
fathoms), besides 195 other arched bridges 
were included in the survey, among others, 
the nice, multi-span bridges at Hegyesd, Diszel 
and Káptalanfa which are still being under 
operation. (These bridges can be presently found 
in county Veszprém, the region over laké Balaton 
was a part of county Zala till World War II). In 
Zalaszentgothárd, the four-span, brick-arched 
Zala-bridge was completed in 1846. It was not 
damaged during World War II. In 1925, the 
bridge has lost its function since the new Zala-
bridge was built close to it. 

There were 374 timber bridges in 1832, 
among others, the one by Muraszerdahely is 
114 m (60 fathoms) long, the one by András-
hida 36 fathoms and the one at Hídvég 40 
fathoms long bridge with "pile bow" type 
foundation. From this age, alsó bridge design 
drawings are available. 

The first steel bridges were built on railway 
lines, e.g. at Murakeresztúr in 1860. Highway 
steel truss bridges were constructed by Mura­
szerdahely (1904 and Letenye (1913) using 
truncated section. Relatively few steel bridges 
were built in the county. Actually, three Zala-
bridges (Balatonhídvég, Fenékpuszta, Zalabér) 
and one Kerka-bridge (Zalabaksa) were completed 
between 1926 and 1930. 

The use of reinforced concrete in bridge 
construction started with Wünsch-system in 
1892, then it became widespread with the 
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Hennebique-system by the activity of Szilárd 
Zielinski. Presently, the oldest reinforced 
concrete bridge in the county was built in 
1907, while the most significant, relatively old 
reinforced concrete bridge was completed in 
Kehide-Kustány based on Zielinski's design in 
1913. Actually, the originál structure is still 
under operation, although it has already been 
widened and strengthened. The three-span 
Zala-bridge was constructed by Andráshida. 
Its substructure was destroyed during World 
War II, the number of its spans was increased 
when reconstructed. 

The construction of reinforced concrete 
bridges became really widespread from 1923 
on, slab bridges as - above 10 m spans - ripped 
girder bridges were built. In 1945. already fást 
20% of the bridge stock (101) was reinforced 
concrete, alsó 210 timber and 204 arched bridges 
were registered that time. Among the arched 
structures, the two-span bridge at Nemesbük 
is famous. It was built in 1825 and still stands 
in its originál form. Besides, there are still 10 
other arched bridges above 100 years under 
operation. 

During World War II, somé 200 bridges in 
the county were destroyed in 2 weeks. Of the 
longer bridges, the Zala-bridges at Kehida-
Kustány and Zalaszentgrót, as well as the 
flood area Zala-bridge at Alibánfa could avoid 
the destruction. (The name of the saver of 
Zalaszentgrót-bridge is alsó known from the 
chronicles.) After this vast destruction, the 
construction of temporary bridges gave the 
possibility for traffic. In 1946-47, already 
permanent structures were alsó built. 

The reconstruction of the Zala-bridge at 
Balatonmagyaród was the only one with steel 
construction (Langer-girder arch). The 
superstructures of two Zala-bridges are low 
deck reinforced concrete arch: Fenékpuszta 
(1951), Zalaapáti (1959), this latter one 
prestressed deck arch. Unfortunately, arched 
structures were not reconstructed not evén in 
Zalalövő. 

FÜGGELÉK 

Till 1975, reinforced concrete slab, then 
frame edge slab bridges, pressurised plank then 
prestressed girder structures (from 1958 on), 
while - at the larger, multi-span Zala and Kerka-
bridges - spare hollow case, then case cast 
reinforced concrete bridges were constructed. 
At Zalaszentgrót, an EHG-girder bridge was 
built beside the old arched bridge. From this 
time on, further developed version of this bridge 
girder type (EHGE, EHGT) became wide­
spread in the construction of bridges over 10 m 
span. After 1955, the reconstruction of small 
bridges was especially successful in county 
Zala, and, as a consequence, the timber bridge 
stock has quickly decreased. In 1965, the 15-
span Zala-bridge at Zalaszentgyörgy was still 
in operation. In 1967, there were only 41 
temporary bridges on the national highways. 
The registration in 1977 contained no timber 
bridges any more. 

The bridge stock of the county is rather big: 
there are 440 bridges on the national highway 
network with the area of 49589 m2: There can 
be found 437 bridges managed by municipalities, 
103 railway bridges, 25 forestry bridges and 
50-100 priváté ones. The bridge stock of the 
county is continuously growing partly by the 
construction of settlement by-passes, partly 
due to the present motorway construction. 

Present publication is the 12* volume of the 
county bridges history series using the earlier 
editing principles: a huge number of figures, 
literature sources for further investigation. 

Several experts participated in the completion 
of this book: Gábor Bire county bridge engineer, 
Dr. János Farkas designer, Dr. Imre Gáli rubin-
diplomed engineer with Jáky-price, Dr. László 
Horváth archaeologist, museum director, 
László Szabó museologist, László Bárdosi and 
Lajos Vajda railway engineers, Dr. László Vándor 
director of Göcsej museum and the editor of 
the publication, Dr. Ernő Tóth, retired head of 
bridge department. Dr. Herbert Tráger retired 
senior counsellor was the reader and translated 
the summary to Germán. The English translation 
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was done by Dr. László Gáspár, research 
director of Institute for Transport Sciences. 

The main chapters of the book are as 
follows: geographical conditions, development 
of the road network of the county, role of 
water regulation activities, early bridge history: 

timber bridges, arched bridges, irón and steel 
bridges, reinforced concrete bridges, reconstruction 
after 1945, designs of Zielinski-bureau, 
archaeological surveys, treasures of archives, 
appendices, chronological review, designers, 
contractors, description of major bridges. 

A zalaapáti Zala-híd a feszítettpályás vasbeton ívhidak egyik első sikeres példája (fotó: Mészáros T. László) 
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Utószó 

A Zala megyei hidak történetéről összeállított 
könyv minden eddiginél terjedelmesebb és a 
legtöbb illusztrációt tartalmazó része a könyv­
sorozatnak, mégis sok minden hiányzik belőle: 

- a megye régi, mainál nagyobb területén 
lévő hidak közül csak néhányról történik emlí­
tés, pedig nagy és értékes Dráva- és Mura-hi-
dak, a mai Veszprém megyei területen pedig 
szép boltozatok voltak. 

- a megye mai területen álló hidak történe­
tében is vannak fehér foltok, nemcsak a 13-19. 
században, hanem a későbbiekben is, pl. Nagy­
kanizsán a vasút feletti híd építésének történe­
te, a háborúban elpusztított hidak pontos jegy­
zéke ismeretlen. 

- egyes földrajzi, vízrajzi kérdésekről nem 
vagy alig esik szó (Göcsej, Szegek világa stb.). 
Rendkívül érdekes a megyében épült híd-, illet­
ve dorongutak története. Doszpot Tamás megfi­
gyelése és Gecseg Miklós részletes elemző tanul­
mánya - az irodalomból ismert - Csalog József 
elemzésétől eltérő magyarázatot ad ezen utak 
építésére. E rendkívül érdekes kérdést érdemes 
megvitatni, s a későbbiekben publikálni az el­
fogadott elméletet. 

- rendkívül sok levéltári, múzeumi és sajtó 
forrás szól a megye hídjairól, ezek közül csak 
kevés került a könyvbe, sok reprodukció ren­

delkezésre áll és a könyvben szereplő listák 
megkönnyítik a kutatók munkáját. 

- a megye hídjairól archív fotó viszonylag 
kevés állt rendelkezésre, a mai állapotot muta­
tó felvétel azonban igen nagy számban készült 
(téli-tavaszi). A Zala-hidak fotózása azok nagy 
hosszúsága és a terepből való csekély kiemel­
kedése miatt rendkívül nehéz, ezért kosaras 
kocsiból készített és légifelvételek is szerepel­
nek, zömében Mészáros T. László remek képei. 
A könyvbe be nem került felvételek az érdeklő­
dők rendelkezésére állnak a közútkezelőnél. 

- szerepelt a könyv tervében az M7 autópá­
lya nyomvonalán végzett régészeti feltárás és a 
megyére oly jellemző erősségek, várak törté­
netének bemutatása, mivel ezek általában át­
kelőhelyeket védtek, több közülük mocsárvár 
volt és mindegyiknél bejáró híd(ak) volt(ak). 
Dr. Horváth László és dr. Vándor László mú­
zeumigazgatók, e témák legfőbb ismerői saj­
nos elfoglaltságuk miatt végül nem tudták vál­
lalni az ismertetők megírását, remélhetőleg 
ezek elkészítésére a későbbiekben mód lesz. 

Ez az utószó nem mentegetőzés kíván len­
ni, hanem további kutatásra buzdító tájékoz­
tatás arról, hogy milyen sok téma és forrás van 
még a megye hídügyeiben. 

dr. Tóth Ernő 

Az egervári vár melletti hid (fotó: Mészáros T. László) 
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